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i ‘l‘)\dmiral ToerNER. Let me say it is unlikely. T don’t know Mr. Gott-
ieb.

_Senator Kexxepy. Has anybody in the Agency talked with M.
Gottlieb to find out about this? :

Admiral TorNEr. Not since this revelation has come out.

Senator KexxEepy. Not since this revelation? Well, why not?

Armiral TurNER. He has left our employ, Senator.

Senater Kexnepy. Does that mean that anybody who leaves is, you
know, covered for lifetime ?

Admiral ToryEr. No, sir.

Senator Kexxepy. Why wouldn’t you talk with him and find out?
You have new information about this program. It has been a matter
of considerable interest both to our committee and to the Intelligence
Committee. Why wouldn’t you talk to Mr. Gottlieb?

Admiral TorNer. Well, again, I think the issue is whether this
should be done by the Justice Department or ourselves.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, are we wrestling around because you and
Attorney General Bell can’t agree——

Admiral TorNER. No, sir.

Senator KENNEDY [continuing]. On who ought to do it?

Admiral Tur~Eer. We are proceeding together in complete agreement
as to how to go. I have, in connection with trying to find all of these
Americans or others who were unwittingly tested, I have some con-
siderable concern about the CIA running around this country inter-
viewing and interrogating people, because I don’t want to give any
impression that we are doing domestic intelligence.

enator KENNEDY. I am just talking about one, in this case. That

was the man who was responsible for the whole program, and to
find out whether anyone within the Agency since you have had this
new material has talked to Gottlieb since 1975, and if the answer is
no, I want to know why not. ' .

Admiral TurNEer. The reason he wis not interviewed in connection
with the 1975 hearings was that he had left the employ of the CIA
and there was a concern on the part of the Agency that it would appear
to the investigators that the CIA was in some way trying to influence
him -and influence his testimony before the committee. If these
committees have no objection, we would be happy to contact Dr.
Gottlieb and see if he can augment anything here in this new infor-

‘mation, though I don’t think there is much in this new information
" that he can add to as opposed to what was available in 1975. .

"~ Senator Kexnepy. Well, you see, Admiral Turner, you come to the
two committees this morning and indicate that now at last we have the
information. We don’t have to be concerned about anything in the
future on it. Now, I don’t know how you can give those assurances to
the members of these committees as well as to the American people

~when you haven’t since 1975 even talked to the principal person that
. was in charge of the program, and the records were destroyed. He is
‘the fellow that was running the program, and the Agency has not
~télked to him since the development of this new material.
Admiral Tor~er. Our only concern here is the proprieties involved,
and we will dig into this and work with the Justice Department on

-
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who, if either of us, should get into discussions with Dr. Gottlieb so as
not to prejudice any legal rights that may be involved here, or to ap-
pear in any way to be improper.

Senator Kex~epy. Well, do T understand you have not contacted the
Justice Department about this particular case since the development
of this new material about Gottlieb?

. Admiral TuryEr. Not about Gottlieb specifically. We have contacted
im.

Senator KexxEepy, Well, it is amazing to me. I mean, can you under-
stand the difficulty that any of us might have in terms of comprehend-
ing that when you develop a whole new series of materials that are on
the front page of every newspaper in the country and are on every tele-
vision, I mean, that means something, but it does not mean nearly as

much as the interest that we have in the fact about the testing of un-

witting Americans, and every single document that the staff reviews
has Mr. Gottlieb’s name on it and you come up to tell us that we don’t
have to worry any more, we have these other final facts, and Mr. Gott-
lieb has not been talked to?

Admiral Tur~NEr. Sir, I am not saying that these are in any way the
final facts. I am saying these are all the facts we have available.

Senator KexNepy. And you have not talked to the person who was
in charge of the program, so what kind of value or what kind of weight
can we give it? i '

Admiral Tor~er. We are happy to talk to him. I think the issue
here again is one of propriety and how to go about this. We have not,
I believe, enough new information about Gottlieb’s participation here
to signal that his interview would be that much more revealing than
what was revealed in 1975. »

Senator KexNEDY. The importance of it, I think, from our point
of view, is, he would know the drugs that were administered, the vol-
ume of drugs, how it was administered, and in terms of your ability

to follow up to protect these people and their health, to the extent that

it can be done, that opportunity is being lost. -

I want to get on to some others, but will you give us the assurance
that you will get ahold of Gottlieb or that you will talk to Attorney
General Bell and talk with Gottlieb?

Admiral Tur~NER. Yes, sir.

Senator KENNEDY. And let us know as to the extent of it. I don’t
see how we can fufill our responsibility in this area on the drug test-
ing without our hearing from Gottlieb as well, but I think it is im-
portant that you do so, particularly since.all of the materials have
been destroyed.

These other two agents, have they talked to them?

Admiral Tur~Ner. We don’t know who they are, sir. We are trying
to track down and see whether these names can be releated to anybody.
~ Senator KENNEDY. That is under active investigation by the Agency ¢

Admiral Tur~NER. Yes, sir. L o .

Senator KENNEDY. And you have the intention of talking to those
people when you locate them. Is that correct? ' '

Admiral TurxEr. Yes, sir, under the same circumstances as Gottlieb, -

Senator KenNEDY. And you have people working on it ?
Admiral Tur~NER. Yes, sir. . C ‘
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Senator Kexxeoy. With regards to the activities that took place in
these safe houses, as I understand from the records, two-way mirrors
were used. Is that your understanding? )

Admiral Tur~Eer. Yes, sir. We have records that construction was
done to put in two-way mirrors.

Senator KEx~epy. And they were placed in the bedroom, as I
understand.

Pause.] .
enator KENNEDY. Well, we have documents

Admiral TorxNEr. I believe that was in the Church record, but I
don’t have the details. :

Senator Kex~Nepy. And rather claborate decorations were added, as
I understand, at least, to the one in San Francisco, in the bedroom,
which are French can-can dancers, floral pictures, drapery, including
installation of bedroom mirrors, three framed Toulouse Lautrec post-
ers with black silk mats, and a number of other—red bedroom cur-
tains and recording equipment, and then a series of documents which
were provided to the committee which indicate a wide proliferation
of different cash for $100, generally in the $100 range over any period
of time on the particular checks. Even the names are blocked out, as
to the person who is receiving it. Cash for undercover agents, operat-
ing expenses, drinks, entertainment while administering, and then it
is dashed out, and then the other documents, that would snggest, at
least with the signature of your principal agent out there, that—-
“called to the operation, midnight, and climax.”

What can you tell us that it might suggest to you about what tech-
niques were being used by the Agency in terms of reaching that sort
of broad-based group of Americans that were being evidently enticed
for testing in terms of drugs and others? Do you draw any kind of
conclusion about what might have been going on out there in these
safe houses? . '

Admiral TurxEer. No, sir.

[General laughter.] ;

Senator KeNNepy. There is a light side to it, but there is also an
enormously serious side. And that is that at least the techniques which
are used or were used in terms of testing, and trying to find out ex-
actly the range of drugs used and the numbers of people involved and
exactly what that operation was about, as well as the constant reitera- -
tion of the use of small sums of cash at irregular intervals. A variety
of different techniques were employed but there is an awful lot of
documentation putting these matters together. .

. When you look at the fact that it is a broad range population that
has been tested, tested in these two areas, with the kind of cash slips
that were used in this, payment mechanisms and decorations and all
of the rest, we are not-able to put a bottom line on it but one thing is
for sure, and that is, Gottlieb knows. That is one thing for sure, be-
cause his name appears on just about every one of these documents,
and it is, I think, very important to find out what his understanding
is of the nature of that. So, we will hear more about that.
CAdmiml TURNER. I believe Gottlieb has been interviewed by the

ongress.

. Senator Kex~eny. That’s right, he has, and in reviewing the record,
it is not very satisfactory, and it just seems with the new information
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and the new documentation and the new memoranda—and he did not
have the checks at that time—and with the wide variety of different
memoranda with his name on it, his memory could be stimulated on
that. : : o

Thank you. )
Senator InouvyE. I would like to thank the admiral and his staft for

participating in this hearing. I believe the record should show that this
learing was held at the request of the Agency and the admiral. It was
not held because we insisted upon it. It was a volunteer effort on the

part of the Agency. I think the record should also indicate that Ad- -

miral Turner has forwarded to this committee a classified file including
all of the names of the institutions and the persons involved as the
experimentors. .

I shotid also indicate that this hearing is just one step involved in
the commi:tee’s investigation of drug abuse. Just as you have had much
work in going over the 8,000 pages, the staff of this committee has had
equal problems, but T would like the record to show that you have
made these papers and documents available to the committee. I thank
you for that.

As part of the ongoing investigation, we had intended to call upon
many dozens of others, experimentors, or those officials in charge, and
onc of those will be Dr. Gottlieb.

In thanking you, I would like to say this to the American people,
that what we have experienced this morning in this committee room
is not being duplicated in any other committee room in any other part
of the world. I doubt that very much. Qur Agency and our intelligence
community has been under much criticism and has been subjected to
much abuse, in many cases justified, but this is the most open society
that I can think of. For example, in Great Britain there are about six
people who are aware of the identity of the man in charge of intelli-
gence. In other countries, similar conditions exist. Here in the United
States we not only know Admiral Turner, we have had open hearings
with him, such as this. The confirmation hearings were all open.

In a few weeks, the Senate of the United States will debate a resolu-
tion to decide upon whether we should disclose the amounts and funds
being used for counterintelligence and national intelligence. I would
hope that in presenting this issue to the public, the media will take note
that the Agency has cooperated and will continue to. The abuse that
we have learned about this morning is one I hope will never happen
again, but without constant oversight on the part of the Executive
Office, on the part of the Congress, it could happen again. It is impor-
tant therefore that we continue in this oversight activity.

So, once again, Admiral, I thank you véry much for helping us. We
will continue to call upon you for your assistance. We would like to
submit to you several questions that the members and staff have pre-

. pared. We hope you will look them over carefully and prepare ve-

sponses for the record, sir.

Senator Kex~epy. Mr. Chairman ¢

Senator INouyE. Yes, sir? : ' g

Senator Kex~epy. 1. too, want to thank Admiral Turner for his
responsiveness. I have had meetings with him in the committees and
also conversations, telephone conversations, and private meetings, and
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I have found him personally to be extremely responsive, and it is a
very difficult challenge which he has accepted in heading this Agency.
I want you to know, personally, I, too, would like to see this put behind
us. I don’t think we are quite there yet in terms of this particular area
that we are interested in. I think the Intelligence Committee has
special responsibilities in this area of the testing, so we look forward
to working with you in expediting the time that we can put it behind,
but it does seem to me that we have to dig in and finish the chapter.
So, I want to personally express my appreciation to you, Admiral
Turner, and thank you for your cooperation and your help, and I look
forward to working with you.

Admiral Tur~xer. Thank you. ' '

Senator Hupnr.estox. Mr. Chairman, I am not sure you emphasized
this enough, but I think the record ought to show that Admiral Turner
informed the Select Committee on his own initiative when the new
documentation was found. The documentation has been made avail-
ablo to us voluntarily, in a spirit of cooperation. '

I think this shows a vast difference from the mode of operation that
existed prior to the formation at least of the Church committee, and
a difference that is very helpful.

Senator Ixcryr. Thank you very much. Thank you very much,
Admiral.

We would now like to call upon Mr. Philip Goldman and Mr. John
Gittinger.

3}Ir. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger, will you please rise and take the
oath. :

Do you solemly swear that the testimony you are about to give is
the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you, God ¢

Mr. Gowpyax. I do.

Mr. GiTrixcer. I do.

Senator Inouye. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Goldman, will you identify yourself, and after that, Mr.
Gittinger. . '

Senator Kex~epy. Before we start in, w2 had a third witness, Mr.
Chairman, Mr. Pasternac, who planned to testify, traveled to Wash-
ington—he lives in Washington, and was contacted recently—with
the intention of testifving this morning. And something—he called
us late this morning and indicated that he wanted to get a counsel
before he would wish to testify.

. Senator Ixouye. Mr. Goldman.
. Mr. Goldman, will you identify yourself, sir.

TESTIMONY OF PHILIP GOLDMAN, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
' INTELLIGENCE AGENCY T

. Mr. Gorp»max. I am Philip Goldman. .
¢ Senator INouyvE. And you are a former employee of the.Central
Tntelligence Agency? : :

Mr. Gorpyan. Over 10 years ago.

Senator Inouye. And you were employed at the time when
MKULTRA was in operaticn? -

_ Mr. GoromaN. There were some MKULTRA’s in operation at the

time I was there. '

v
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Senator IxouyYE. And Mr. John Gittinger, are you a former em-
ployee of the Central Intelligence Agency?

TESTIMONY OF JOHN GITTINGEB., FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGERCE AGENCY

Mr. GrrriNger. I am.
Senator INOUYE. Are you still an employee$

Mr. Grrrincer. No.

Senator Inouxe. Were you a member of the Agency at the time
MEULTRA was in operatlon?

Mr. GrrriNger. Yes.

Senator INnouyEe. Thank you. Senator Kennedy.

Senator Kennepy. I want to welcome both of you to the committee.

If we could start with Mr. Goldman. Were you the project engineer
for the safe houses in either San Francisco or New York?

.. Mr. Gorpmax. I know of no safe house in"San Framvisco: ~-

Senator Ken~epy. How about in New York?

Mr. Goroman. I knew of one facility that was established there,
but I didn’t know anything of its operation.

Senator KennNepy. Were you a monitor on any testing of drugs on
unwitting persons in San Francisco?

. GoLomax. No.
Senabor Kexnnepy. Well, we have a classified document here that was

provided by the Agency that lists your name as & monitor of the pro-
gram and I would appreciate it if you would look——
Mr. Goroarax. I think the misunderstanding arises because I was

project officer.
Senator Kenxepy. Well, would you take a look at that ?

[Mr. Goldman mspected the document.]
Mr. GorpmanN. This document as it states is correct. However,

my— -
Senator Kex~NepY. That document is correct ?

Mr. GorpMaN. As far as I see on the first page, the project. But .

my—
Senator Kennepy. Well, could T get it back, please.
That would indicate that you were a monitor of the program.
Mr. Gooman. I was in charge of disbursing the moneys to Morgan

Hall.
Senaior KexneEpy. To whom was that ¢
Mr. GouoMaN. To the individual whose name was listed at the top

of that document.
Senator KENNEDY And you knew that he was running the project

in San Francisco? :

Mr. Goroman. T knew he was the person who was in charge out

) there
Senator Kennepy. All right.
‘Mr. GoLoman. But I had no knowledge nor did T seek knowled.qe of

actually what he was domg, because there would be other things
involved.

I did receive— . - '
Senator KenneDY. W'hat were you doing?

LP EV|dent|ary Exhibits Page 007344

10/14/2022

%, S
becmntodd

huryned

Bissrrddy

sk

By

(XSS

for e
L, 4
Sy

S



¥

LP Evidentiary Exhibits Page 007345

52

Mr. Goupaan, I was collecting—I had to be sure that all the re-
ceipts that ever were turned in balanced with the moneys that were
paid out to see that everything was run all right. There was no illegal
use of funds as far as we could determine by the receipts and cash.

Senator KexNEDY. So even though the Agency document indicates
that you were a monitor for the program, one of the few monitors of
that particular program which you mentioned for San Francisco and
Mill Valley, Calif., you described your responsibility only as a carrier
of money, 1s that correct ? 4

Mr. Goupyax. I would say as a disburser or carrying out—seeing
that the moneys were handled properly. There was within that—I
don’t'i know what’s done or what he did do in conjunction with other
people. .

Senator Kexxepy. Were you responsible for the disbursement of
all the funds?

Mr. Goupaax. I was responsible for turning over the check to him.

Senator Kex~epy. And what did you know of the program itself ?

Mr. Gorpyax. The only thing I knew of the program’ was what he
furnished us in terms of receipts and that sort of thing. I didn’t in-
dulge or concarn myself in that.

Senator KexNeEDY. You still wrote, and I’ll let you examine it—
it’s a classified document—but you wrote a rather substantive review
of the program in Mayv of 1963, talking about the experiments, the
factual data that had b n collected, covert and realistic field trials,
about the necessity of those particular—and talked about the effec-
tiveness of the various programs, the efficiency of various delivery
systems. That doesn’t sound to me like someone who is only

Mr. Gorpaax. Well, if you would refresh my memory, if I couid
read this I would certainly agree with whatever is said there, if it was
written.

Senator KExNEDY. I am trying to gather what your role was. You've
indicated first of all that you didn’t know about—you knew about a
safe house in New York; now we find out that you’re the carrier for
the resources as well and the agent in San Francisco. We find out now
that the CIA put you as a monitor. You’re testifying that you only were
the courier, and here we have just one document, and there are many
others that talk about the substance of that program with your name
0{1 it and I am just trying to find out exactly what role you were
plaving. . .

Mr. Gorpaax. The only thing I can tell you about this and I am
drawing completely on my meinory is that this individual who was
in charge out there conducted these things and revorted them back to
the Agency. I didn’t participate in any of them. A1l T know was that he
furnished me with receipts for things that were done and told of the
work that they had done, '

Senator Kenneny. Well, that document covers more than receipts.
}'I'Mr. Gorpamax, Yes, it tells of what—they had conducted work out
there. , ’

Senator Kex~epy. It describes, does it not? Read the paragraph 2. .
Mr. Gorpstan, “A number of covert”—— - ’
Senator KenNEDY. Well, you can’t read it. it’s a classified document,

and I don’t know why, quite frankly, but it relates to the substance
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of those programs and your name is signed to the memorandums on -3
it. I am not interested in you trying to review for us now what is in the

document, but I think it would be unfortunate if we were ieft with the ‘3

opinion that all you were was a couricr of rescurces when we see a i

document with your name or it, signed, that talks about the substance .
of the program. And what we’re interested in is the substance of the -
program. We have the recent documents that were provided by the
Agency, which do indicate that you were at least involved in the sk
substance, and I’m just trying to find out whether you’re willing to
tell us about that. '

Mr. Gorpyax. I am perfectly willing to tell you everything that 4
I can remember. |
Senator KENNEDY. But you can’t remember anything. oy
Mr. Gowpyax. I can’t remember the substantive parts of these ,a |
things, I really can’t. o
Senator Kex~epy. Of the program that was taking place. .
.- Do you have any greater familiarity with what was happening in
New York? X

Mr, Gorparan. No, no.

Senator KENNEDY. And you have the samne function with regards
to New York?

Mr. Gowpyan. The same function with regard to New York.

Senator Kex~epy. Did you ever go to San Francisco?

Mr. GoLpyan. Yes. '

Senator KEx~NEDY. Did you meet with the agent in charge?

Mr. Gouparaxn, Yes. ' -

Senator Kex~epy. And why did you meet with him? ;

Mr. Gorpxman. To discuss some of the receipts and things that were
there to find out if these were indeed true cxpenditures and to find out
éf everything was going along all right for the work that was being :
lone. i

Senator Kennepy. What work was being done? 1

Mr. Gorpxax. No, the reports of these things and whatever was
being done. I don’t know who he reported to but he did report to
somebody. '

Senator Ken~epy. You travel out there to find out about the work
that’s being done, and what does he tell you, that the work is being H
done well and—— ‘ : ‘

Mr. Gorpaan. He told me that the work that they were:doing was
going along, progressing satisfactorily, but to be very frank with
you—— : : : ol

Senator Kennepy. But he didn’t tell you what the work was? ’

Mr. Goroman. To be very frank with you, Senator, I cannot re- oy
member the things that happened back in those days. I've been away 2
from the company—from the Agency for over 10 years, and that is
even farther back than that, and that was just about the time when I
first engaged in this, so it was my first— : ' N

Senator Kennepy. Did they disburse a series of $100 checks, to i
your recollection ¢ - i e ‘ ;
hMr(.1 glom_mm. I don’t recollect it, but if you have it there, then :
theydid. . -~ - v : - > [
~ Senator Ken~EDY. Did you know Dr. Gottlieb? T
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Senator Kexnepy. How did you know Dr. Gottlieb?
Mtre‘;d Gorpyman. He had been head of the division when I was re-
cruited.
Senator Kexwvepr. Did you talk to him about these programs? Did
you have anything to do with him during this period of time?
Mr. Gorpmax. I didn’t have anything to do with him until I would
say probably in the sixties. .
¢ Senator Kennesy. And can you tell us what you had to do with
him then$ _ )

Mr. GoLpaax. Just what you see there on the papers.

Senator Kennepy. Well, that is the request for the money and he
approves it. . ; .

Mr. Gonman. That is the request for money and he approves it,
and I am quite sure that I probably discussed with him whether the
work was going along all right, whether his reports were being turned
in, and whether he was satisfied with the way things were going
and did he have any complaints about the way other people were
requesting him, but I did not engage myself in anything he was doing.

enator KeNNEDY. Well, did you get the impression that Gottlie
knew what was going on ¢

Mr. GoLoman. I didn’t ask.

Senator Ken~epy. But you told him that your impression that what
was going on even though you didn’t know what was going on, was go-
ing on well, I guess? [Laughter.]

Mr. GoroMax. I told Gottlieb what you saw in there was that the
things appeared to be going along all right. I was repeating and par-
roting back the words that were given to me while I was there. -
. Sen;.tor Kenxzpy. What was the money being spent for, do you

now

Mr. GoLpMAN. No; I can’t recall that, sir.

Senator KennNEpy. Would you remember if we told you it was red
curtains and can-can pictures——

Mr. GoLpmAaN. No, sir.

Senator KennNEpY. Floral pictures and the rest.

Mr. GoLoman. No, sir.

Senator KennepYy. Recorders.

Mr. GoubMaN. No, sir. : : _

Senator Kennepy. Recorders and two-way mirrors.

Mr. GoLomaN. Wait, hold on. You’re slipping a word in there now.
. Senator XenNepy. But you would have authorized those funds,
A would you not, since you were the——

' Mr. GorpymaN. Did you say two-way mirrors?

Senator KeNNEDY. Yes.

Mr. GoLpyan. Where ?

Senator KenNEDY. In the safe houses.

Mr. GoLoman. Where? .

Senator KenNEDY. San Francisco.

Mr. Gorpman. No. :

Senator Kexnepy. How about New York ¢ )

Mr. GoromAN. Yes. , :

Senator KENNEDY. You. remember now that you approved expendi-
tures for New York? :
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Mr. GoLpyan, Yes.

Senator KExxEDY. What were those expenditures for $

Mr. Gorpaax, That was a transfer of money over for the use in
an apartment in New York by the Bureau of Narcotics. It was for

their use.
Senator KenNepy. Do you have any knowledge of what was going
on in the apartment? =3

Mr. GorpMaN. No, sir, other than I know that it had been used, ac-
cording to the information that I have been given, it was used by the

Bureau of Narcotics to make meetings with individuals who they were .
Interested .in with regard to pushing dope—not pushing dope, but sell-
ing narcotics and that sort of thing. E

Senator Kexneny. Well, I am sure you had many responsibilities and
it’s a long time ago, but the Agency does indicate that you were project
monitor for that particular program. '

Mr. Gorpazan. That’s correct. .

Scnator KENNEDY. Your own testimony indicates you went out to re-
view the expenditures of funds to find out whether they were being
wisely used, that you came back and talked to the project director, Mr.
C}‘xlottlieb, to give him a progress report about what was going on out
there. :

Mr. GoLpyax. Yes, sir, I did. 5

Senator KexNepy. All those things are true, and yet you draw a
complete blank in terms of what was the project itself. That’s where
the record is now. '

Mr. Gorpasan. I did not go out there to review the projects nor did
I come back and talk with Mr. Gottlieb and review what I had observed .
in terms of any projects that they—that is, other parts of the Agency i
might have in operation there. I simply reported back those things
which were told to me by the individual out there who—and I carried
them back and they are contained in the report that you have in front ‘
of you, word for word, just as it was given to me. =N

Senator Kex~Nepy. The report that you examined here is a substan-
tive report on the particular program and project. And I don’t think
anyone who wasn’t familiar with the project—this is a personal evalu-
ation—could write a report on the substance of it without knowing
about it. Now, that’s mine. Maybe you can’t remember and recollect, ey
and that's— i ’

Mr. Gorpman. No; everything I put down in there is things that I
was told while I was out there, and if there was any ancillary informa- :
Eion’ involved in there I can tell you I just don:’t remember that. I really : S

on’t. . ' oo

At the time—that was some years ago. At the time—a lot of time has
passed since then and I have made quite sure that if I could recollect it
at all; T would do it. If you have some papers and you want me to cer-
tify whether yes, this is so or that is so, I can do that, but I can’t recall
it mentally. . ) ‘ '

Sl;anator Kennepy. You just certified the principal. There are others
up here. " - .‘

I would like to go to Dr. Gittinger.

- Mr. GrrriNger. It’s Mr. Gittin(iger. / " i - .

Senator Kexneoy. How long did you serve with the Agency$ 4
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Mr. GrTTINGER, Twenty-six years.

Senator KExNEDY. Excuse me?

Mr. GirrINGER. Twenty-six years.,

Senator KExNEpy. Twenty-six years. _

And at some point you moved into the operational support side, is
that correct ?

Mr. GiTTINGER. Yes.

: Senator Kexxepy. And did you know Sidney Gottlieb?

Mr. Grrringer. Yes, sir. .

Senator Kexxepy. And did he inform you about the research proj-
ects involving LSD?¢

Mr. GrTTINGER. Yes, sir. -

Senator Kex~epy. It is my understanding that you were also aware
of some of the drug testing projegts conducted on unwitting subjects
on the west coast using the Bureau of Narcotics people in the operation.

Is that true? i

Mr. GrrriNger. I was. :

Senator Inouve. Excuse me. Would you speak into the microphone?

I cannot hear you. ‘

Mr. GrrTINGER. Sorry. '

Se?ator Kexxepy. Do you know which drugs were involved in those
lests¢

Mr. Grrringer. LSD. And I can’t remember for sure much of the
others. What is the substance of marihuana, cannabis, is that right, that
can be delivered by other than smoking ¢

Senator Kex~epy. Cannabis?

Mr. Grrrincer. There had been some discussion of that; yes.

Senator KENNEDY. And was heroin also used ?

Mr. GitriNger. Heroin used by CIA ?

Senator Kex~EDpY. No. In the west coast operation.

Mr. GiTTINGER. Absolutely not.

Senator KENNEDY. Now, to your knowledge, how were the drugs ad-
ministered to the unwitting su%jects?

Mr. Grrringer. I have no direct knowledge.

Senator Kexxepy. Why did you go to the safe houses?

Mr. Grrringer. It’s a very complicated story. Just in justification of
myself, this came up just day before yesterday. I have not really had
enough time to get it all-straightened in my mind, so I ramble.

Senator KExNEDY. Well, you take your time and tell us in your own »

. words. We've got some time here.

¢ Mr. Grrringer, My responsibilities which would involve any of the
period of time that you were talking about really was not directly
related to drugs at all. I was a psychologist charged with the responsi-
bility of trying to develop as much information as I could on various
cultures, overseas cultures, anthropological type data, if you follow
what I mean. I was also engaged in trying to work out ways and means
of assessing people and understanding people. '

I originally became involved in this through working on Chinese
culture, and over a series of time I was introduced to the problem of
brainwashing, which is the thing that really was the most compelling
thing in relationship to this, and became charged with the responsi-
hility of trying to find out a little bit about interrogation techniques.
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And among other things, we decided or I decided that one of the best
sources of interrogation techniques would be trying to locate and inter-
view and become involved with experienced police interrogators in
the country and experienced people who had real practical knowledge
of interrogation. The reason for this is that we had become pretty well
convinced after the experience of the brainwashing problems coming
out of China, that it was the techniques of the interrogators that were
causing the individuals to make confessions and so forth in relationship
to this, rather than any kind of drugging and so forth. So we were
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very much interested in interrogation techniques, and this led to me ;

being introduced to the agent in the west coast, and I began to talk to

him in connection with these interrogation techniques. -
Senator Kexxeny. OK. Now, that is the agent that ran the tests

on the west coast on the unwitting people. That’s where you come in, -

correct? :

Mr. Grrringer. If I understand—would you say that again ?
Senator Kexxepy. The name Morgan Hall has been—that is the

name that has been used.
Mr. GrrTINGER. Yes. "3
Senator KexNEDY. And that is the agent that you met with. :

Mr. GirTiNger. That is right,
Senator KENNEDY. And you met at the safe house.
Mr. Grrringer. Yes, sir,
Senator KENNEDY. Whom did you meet with in the safe house? >
Mr. Girringer. This is the part that is hard for me to say, and I am

sorry that I have to. In connection with some work that we were

doing, we needed to have some information on sexual habits, Morgan

Hall provided informants for me to talk to in connection with the sex

habits that I was interested in trying to find information. During one

period of time the safe house, as far as I was concerned, was used for

just these particular type of interviews. And I didn’t see the red

curtains.
Senator KEx~xepy. Those were prostitutes, were they ?

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes, sir. )
Senator Kex~eny. How many different times were you there that

you had similar A
Mr. Grrrixger. I couldn’t possibly say with any certainty on that.
Four or five times. :

Senator Ken~EpY. Four or five times.
Mr. GrrriNger. Over—you remember now, the period that I'm talk-

ing about when I would have any involvement in this is from about
1956 to 1961. So it’s about a 4- or 5-year period which is the only time
that I know anything about what you are talking about here today.

Senator Kexxepy. Did Morgan Hall make the arrangements for

the prostitutes to meet with you?

Mr. Grrringer.' Yes, sir. = =

Senator Kex~NepY. Did the interviews that you had have anything to
do with drugs? ' .

Mr. Grrringer. Well, as I tried to explain earlier when this was
being discussed a little bit beforehand, again I think it is pretty hard
for ‘most- people riow to recognize how little there was known about

- drugs at the period of time that we are talking about, because the
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drug age or the drug culture comes later on. Consequently, those of
us who had any responsibility in this area were interested in trying to
get as much information as we could on the subculture, the subculture
drug groups, and obviously the Bureau of Narcotics represented a
means of doing this. Consequently, other types of things that were
involved in discussions at that time would have to do with the under-
ground use of drugs. When 1 am talking about this I am talking about
the folkways in terms of unwitting use of drugs. Did these people that
I was talking to have any information about this and on rare instances
they were able to tell me about their use, and in most cases this would
largely turn out to be a Mickey Finn or something of that sort rather
than anything esoteric.

_ I also was very much interested because we had relatively little
information, believe it or not, at that time, in terms of the various
reactions that people were having to drugs. Therefore, these people
were very informative in terms of they knew a great deal of informa-
tion about reactions.

Senator KENNEDY. At least you gathered—or am I correct in assum-
ing that you gathered the impression that the prostitutes that you had
talked to were able to slip the drugs to people as I understand it. Did
you form any impression cn that? _

Mr. Grrringer. I certainly did not form the impression that they
did this as a rule or

Senator KEx~NEDY. But they had the knowledge.

Mr. Girrixger. They had the knowledge or some of them had had
knowxledge of this being done. But again, as it turned out, it was largely
in this area of knockout drops.

Senator Kex~epy. Looking back now did you form any impression
about how the Agency was actually testing the broad spectrum of social
classes in these safe houses? With the large disbursal of cash in
small quantities, $100 bills and the kinds of elaborate decorations and
two-way mirrors in the bedrooms and all the rest, is there any question
in your own mind what was going on in the safe houses, or the tech-
niques that were being used to administer these drugs? )

Mr. Grrrivger. I find it very difficult to answer that question, sir. I
had absolutely no direct knowledge there was a large number of this. I
had no knowledge that anyone other than—than Morgan Hall was in
any way involved in the unwitting administration of drugs.

Senator Kex~Nepy. But Gottlieb would know, would he not? -

Mr. GrrTiNgeR. 1 believe so, yes, sir.

Senator Kexxepy. Could we go into the Human Ecology Founda-
tion and talk about that and how it was used as an instrument in terms
of the support of research?

- Mr. GrrriNGeR. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexxepr. Could you describe it to us? Could you describe
the Human Ecology Foundation, how it functioned and how it worked ¢

Mr. Gitringer. May I tell something about how it evolved, which I
think is important?

Senator Ken~EDY. Sure. :

Mr. Grrringer. The Society for the Investigation of Human Ecol-
ogy, so-called, was actually a—I am confused here now as to whether
I should name you names. ‘
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Senator Kex~eoy. Well, we're not interested in names or institu-

tions, so we prefer that you do not. That has to be worked out in 5
arrangements between Admiral Turner and the individuals and the ;
institutions. . ‘ : :

But we’re interested in what the Foundation really was and how it oy
functioned and what its purpose was.

Mr. Girringer. Well, it was established to undertake research in the
general area of the behavioral sciences. It definitely had almost no
focus or interest in, say, drug-related type of activities except in a very
minor way, because it was largely set up to attempt to gain a certain
amount of information and to fund projects which were psychological,

sociological, anthropological in character. It was established in the 3
sense of a period of time that a lot of us who are in it wish we could :
do it over again, but we were interested in trying to get together a panel '
of the most representative high-level behavioral scientists we could to —

oversee and help in terms of developing the Society for the Investiga-
tion of Human Ecology type of program. ,

The Agency in effect provided the money. They did not direct the
projects. Now, the fact of the matter is, there are a lot of innocent peo-
ple who received the Society for the Investigation of Human Ecology
money which I know for a fact they were never asked to do anything
for the CIA but they did get through this indirectly. They had no
Imowledge that they were getting CLA money. : '

Senator Kexxepy. Over what period of time did this take place?

Mr. Grrringer. As far as I was concerned, it was the perio&) of time
ending in 1961. I believe the Human Ecology fund finally phased out
in 1965, but I was not involved in this phasing out.

Senator KxnNepy. Can you give the range of the different sort of
individual projects of the universities in which it was active? :

Mr. Grrringer. Well, it would have as many as—I am very fuzzy
on my memory on the number of projects. It is over 10, 20, 30.

Senator KennNEDY. After it made the grants, what was the relation- 3
ship of the Agency with the results of the studies?¥ The Foundation i
acquired the money to make the grants from the Agency, and then it
made the grants to these various research programs. ' iy 2

- Mr. Grrringer. Yes, sir. g

Senator KENNEDY. And that included eight universities as well as el
individual researchers? . oyt
Mr. GrrrINgER. Yes, sir. : :

Senator KenNepy. Then what follow-up was there to that, sir? il

Mr. Grrrmvger. Well, in every sense of the word, the organization
was run exactly like any other foundation, and it carried with it the :
same thing in terms of making certain that the people that they had i3,
given money to used it for the purpose for which it had been granted, _ .
that they had access to any of the reports that they had put out, but
there were no strings attached to anybody. There wasn’t any reason
thev couldr’t publish anvthing that thev put out. - o

Senator Kennepy. What sort of budget are we talking about here?

‘Mr. GrrTINGER. T honestly do not remember. I would guess we are
‘talking in the realm of about $150,000 a year, but don’t hold me to that, .
because I don’t know.
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Senator KENNEDY. What is your view about such funding as a pro-
fg:smx}a% person, in terms of compromising the integrity of a univer-
sity, sir? .

Mr. Grrrincer. Well, obviously, sir, insofar as today there is no
question about it. I will have to say at the time that we were doing this
there was quite an entirely different kind of an attitude, and I do
know for a fact that we moved to start towards phasing out the So-

= ciety for the Investigation of Human Ecology and the Human Ecol-
ogy Fund for the very reason that we were beginning to recognize that
it was moving into an area but this would be compromised.

Senator Ken~epy. Well, that is commendable, both your attitude
and the reasons for it, but during that period of time it still was in- »
volved in behavior research programs, as I understand it.

Mr. Grrringer. Yes, sir. On its own, in connection with this, it
participated again, and these again were not CIA-directed projects,
but these were all things which would theoretically contribute to the
general knowledge at the time where the things like the study of the
Hungarian refugees—obviously, the study of the Hungarian refugees
who came to this country after the Hungarian revolt was a very use-
ful exercise to try to get information about the personality character-
istics of the Communists and so forth.

Senator KennNepy. Were there other foundations that were doing
similar kinds of work?

Mr. Girringer. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Senator KenNEDY. You believe——

Mr. GrrTINGER. You mean, CIA, other CIA ?

Senator Kexxepy. Right. o ,

Mr. Grrringer. Well, my answer is in the sense that I know of no
other CIA foundations, no. There were, of course, other foundations
doing similar kinds of work in the United States.

Senator KENNEDY. Have you heard of the Psychological Assess-
ments Foundation ¢

Mr. GITTINGER. I certainly have.

Senator KexNEDY. What was that? What function did that have?

Mr. Grrringer. Now, this was bringing us up to a different era. I
believe the functions of that organization have nothing whatsoever
to do with the things that are being talked about here while I was
associated with it.

Senator KENNFEDY. Rather than getting into the work, it was another »
: f{)undatgon, was it not? It was another foundation supported by the
& gency

‘ Mr. Grrrrweer. What, the Psychological Assessment ?

Senator KENNEDY. Yes.

Mr. Grrrinager. No, sir, it was not.

Senator Kennepy. It did not get any support at all from the

Agency? :

ﬁ' Mr. Grrringer. Oh, yes, sir. It did get support, but it was a business
Senator Kenxepy. It was a business but it got support from the
Agency? _ ,

- Mr. Grrringer. It got money from it, but it definitely was not in
MKULTRA or in any way associated with this.
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Senator Kexxepy. All right. I want to thank you for your helpful
testimony, Mr. Gittinger. It is not easy to go back into the past. I
think you have been very fair in your characterizations, and I think
it is quite appropriately indicated that there are different standards
now from what they were 25 years ago, and I think you have responded

ewreciad

very fairly and completely to the inquiries, and I think with a good ?
deal of feeling about it. . wh
You are a person who is obviously attempting to serve the country’s
interest, so I want to thank you very much for your statement and &
for your helpful timeliness. i
Mr. Grrringer. Thank you, sir.
Senator INouyE. Senator Case ? -3
Senator Case. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am sorry that I had | j

enother committee that I had to complete the hearing with this morn-
ing before I got here. . .

I shall read the testimony with very great interest, and I appreci- *J .
ate your testimony as I have heard it. I would like to comment just on i
one point, and that is, it relates tc a story in the press yesterday about
part of this program involving the funding of a grant at a foreign
university. I would like to elicit from you a comment as to the addi- 5
tional sensitivity and difficulty that that practice involves from your
standpoint as a scientist, as well as a citizen, if you will.

Mr. GrrTinger. I will say it was after the fact thinking. It was utter
stupidity the way things worked out to have used some of this money
outside the United States when it was CIA money. I can categorically
state to my knowledge and I don’t claim a complete knowledge all the
way across of the human ecology functions, but to my knowledge, and
this is unfortunate, those people did not know that they were getting
money from CIA, and they were not asked to contribute anything to 3
CIA as such. . A £

Senator Case. It would be interesting to try to examine this by turn-
ing the thing around and thinking what we would think if this hap- -
pened from a forzign official agency to our own university. Thank you, '
Mr. Chairman.

Senator INouUYE. Senator Schweiker.

Senator ScuweIker. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Goldman, I wonder if you would tell us what your training and

educational background is? , :
Dr. GoLbmAN. I have already given a biography for the record. S
Senator ScHWEIKER. I have not seen it. Who has it? Ts it classified ? g

We may have it for the record, but may I ask you to briefly describe _
your training and background for us now? I hope it is no secret. ' g °
Dr. Goroyman, Well, I was told if I was asked this to say that. I was

told that by your staff pecple, but I have no objection to telling I}vjro_u.
"~ I am a resident from Pennsylvania, southwest Pennsylvania, -
caster County. I went to Penn State, and I am in nutrition. '
- Senator ScHWEIKER. In what ¢
Dr. Goroman. Nutrition. -
Senator Scuwerker. Were you in charge of a section or segiment of
the CIA in your past capacity ? )
- Dr. GoLoman. During the time I was with that organization, I -was
in charge of one small section of it, one small segment of it; yes.

Bt
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Senator Scaweiger. What was the function or purpose of that sec-
tion that you headed ?

Dr. Gorpxax. To provide support for the other parts of the division.

Senator ScuweIKer. Where 1n the chain of command would that put
you in relation to Dr. Gottlieb?

Dr. GoLpymaN, Pretty far down the line.

Senator Scuwerker. Mr. Gittinger, I would just like to ask you a
few questions. We appreciate your frankness and candor with the com-
mittee, and we realize this is a very difficult area to go into. I am not
quite clear on two matters that were raised earlier. First, were the safe
houses we were talking about here used on occasion by the prostitutes
you referred to?

Mr. GrtTINGER. I really have not the slightest idea.

Senator ScHweIker. Were the prostitutes used in any way to slip
the customers drugs for observation purposes ¢

Mr. GrrriNger. Not to my direct knowledge.

- Senator Scuweiker. Would you have been in a position to know the
answer to either of these questions?

Mr. Grrringer. May I say, probably not, and may I make an aside
to explain a little bit of this, please, sir?

Senator ScuweIker. Mr. Gittinger, a moment sgo you mentioned
brainwashing techniques, as one area that you had, I guess, done soine
work in. How would you characterize the state of the art of brain-
washing today? Who has the most expertise in this field, and who is
or is not doing it in terms of other governments? -

During the Korean war there was a lot of serious discussion about
brainwashing techniques being used by the North Koreans, and I am
interested in finding out what the state of the art is today, as you see it.

Mr. Girrincer, Well, of course, there has been a great deal of work
on this, and there is still a great deal of controversy. I can tell you that
as far as I knew, by 1961, 1962, it was at least proven to'my satis-
faction that brainwashing, so called, is some kind of an esoteric device
where drugs or mind-altering kinds of conditions and so forth were
used, did not exist even though “The Manchurian Candidate” as a
movie really set us back a long time, because it made something im-
possible look plausible. Do you follow what I mean? But by 1962 and
1963, the general idea that we were able to come up with is that brain-
washing was largely a process of isolating a human being, keeping
him out of contact, putting him under long stress in relationship to
interviewing and interrogation, and that they could produce any
change that way without having to resort to any: kind of esoteric
means. ' '

Senator SCHWEIKER. Are there ways that we can ascertain this from

- 8 distance’when we see a captive prisoner either go on television, in

a photograph, or at a press conference? In other words, are there cer-
tain signs that you have learned: to recognize from your technical
background, to tell when brainwashing has occurred ? Or is that very
difficult to do? . L m o .

Mr. Grrringer. It is difficult to do. I think it is posible now in terms
of looking at.a picture of somebody who hasbeen in enemy hands for
2 long period of time. We can get some pretty good ideas of what kind
of circumstances he has been under, if that is what you mean.
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Senator Scuweiker. That is all I have, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Senator Inouye. Thank you very much.

Before adjourning the hearings, I would like to have the record .
show that Dr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger have voluntarily cooperated ]
with the committee in staff interviews, that they appear this morning 4
voluntarily, and they are not under subpena.

Gentlemen, I realize that this experience may have been an unhapp, 3
: one and possibly a painful ore. Therefore, we thank you very mu i
for participating this morning. We also realize that the circumstances
of that time differed very much from this day, and possibly the na- g
tional attitude, the national political attitude condoned this type of 'S
- activity. So, we have not asked you to come here as persons who have -

committed crimes, but rather in hope that you can assist us in studying

this problem so that it will not occur once again. In that spirit we ? _’
thank you for your participation, and we look forward to working £
. with you further in this case.
Thank you very much. ' 3
Senator Kex~Nepy. Mr, Chairman, I would like also to thank the i
witnesses. These are difficult matters, and I think all of us are very
grateful. "

Senator Scuweiker. I think the witnesses should know that though
it may not always seemn that way, what we are trying to do is to probe
the past and look at the policies of the past to affect the future. I think .
our emphasis really is on the future, not the past, but it is important
that we learn from the past as we formulate policies and legislation
for the future, I hope that all of the witnesses who did come before us
voluntarily this morning, including Admiral Turner respect the fact :
that we are questioning the past to learn about the future. I think it D
should be looked at in that light.

Senator Ken~epy. I think that is the spirit in which we have had
these hearings. It seems to me that from both these witnesses and
others, Gottlieb knows the information and can best respond, and we
are going to make every effort in the Senate Health Committee to get
Mr. Gottlieb to appear, and we obviously look forward to cooperating
with Senator Inouye and the other members of the committee in get-
ting the final chapter written on this, but we want to thank you very
much for your appearance here.

L Senator INouYE. The hearing will stand in recess, subject to the call
‘@ of the Chair. - .

% [Whereupon, at 12:12 p.m., the hearing was recessed, subject to the
& 7 call of the Chair.]
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APPENDIX A

XVII. TESTING AND USE OF CHEMICAL AND BIOLOGI-
CAL AGENTS BY THE INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY

Under its mandate * the Select Committee has studied the testing and
use of chemical and biological agents by intelligence agencies. Detailed
descriptions of the programs conducted by intelligence agencies in-
volving chemical and biological agents will be included in a separately

- published appendix to the Senate Select Committee’s report. This sec-
tion of the report will discuss the rationale for the programs, their
monitoring and control, and what the Committee’s investigation has

_ revealed rzla.%out the relationships among the intelligence agencies and

. about their relations with other government agencies and private in-
stitutions and individuals.? .

Fears that countries hostile to the United States would use chemi-
cal and biological agents against Americans or America’s allies led
to the development of a defensive program designed to discover tech-
niques for American intelligence agencies to detect and counteract
chemical and biological agents. The defensive orientation soon became
secondary as the possible use of these agents to obtain information
from, or gain control over, enemy agents became apparent.

Research and development programs to find materials which could
be used to alter human behavior were initiated in the late 1940s and
early 1950s. These experimental programs originally included testing
of drugs involving witting human subjects, and culminated in tests
using unwitting, nonvolunteer human subjects. These tests were de-
signed to determine the potential effects of chemical or biological
agents when used operationally against individuals unaware that they
‘had received a drug. - .

The testiug programs were considered highly sensitive by the in-
telligence agencies administering them. Few people, even within the
agencies, knew of the programs and there is no evidence that either
the executive branch or Congress were ever informed ‘of them. The
highlg compartmented nature of these programs may be explained in

ER N

- part by an observation made by the CIA Inspector General that, “the

“ knowledge that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activi-

b ' Senate Resolution 21 directs the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence
Activities to investigate 2 number of issues:

e “(a) Whether agencies within the intelligence community conducted illegal

domestic activities (Section 2(1) and (2));

“(b)- The extent to which agencies within the intelligence community cooper-
ate (Section 2(4) and (8)); . _

“(c) The adequsacy of executive branch and congressional oversight of intel-
ligence activities (Section 2(7) and (11));

“(d) The adequacy of existicg laws to safeguard the rights of American citi-
zens (Section 2(13)).” : ) ;

*The details of these programs may never be known. The programs were highly
compartmented. Few records were kept. What little documentation existed for
the CIA’s principal program was destroyed early in 1973.
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ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic circles
and would be detrimental to the accomplishment of its missions.”®
The research and development program, and particularly the co-
vert testing programs, resulted in massive abridgments of the rights
of American citizens, sometimes with tralzic consequences. The deaths
of two Americans ** can be attributed to these programs; other partici-
pants in the testing programs may still suffer from the residual ef-
fects. While some controlled testing of these substances might be de- #:
fended, the nature of the tests, their scale, and the fact that they were . |
continued for years after the danger of surreptitious administration _ _
of LSD to unwitting individuals was known, demonstrate a funda- E |

1ental disregard for the value of human life. -

The Select Committee’s investigation of the testing and use of chem- »
ical and biological agents zlso raise serious questions about the ade-
quacy of command and control procedures within the Central Intelli-
gence Agency and military intelligence, and about the relationships
among the intelligence agencies, other governmental agencies, and
private institutions and individuals. The CIA’s normal administrative
controls were waived for programs involving chemical and biological 1R
agents to protect.their security. According to the head of the Audit '
Branch ¢t the CIA. these” waivers produced “gross administrative
failures.” They previnted the CIA’s internal review mechanisms (the £
Office of General Counsel, the Inspector Generzl, and the Audit Staff) i
from adequately supervising the programs. In general, the waivers had .
the paradoxical effect of providing less restrictive administrative con- &
trols and less effective internal review for controversial and highly N
sensitive projects than those governing normal A gency activities.

The security of the programs was protected not only by waivers
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of normal administrative controls, but also by a high degree of com- s o
partmentation within the CIA. This compartmentation excluded the
CIA’s Medical Staff from the principal research and testing program ,
employing chemical and biological agents. }

It also may have led to agency policymakers receiving differing
and inconsistent responses when they posed questions to the CIA o
component involved. - 2 ¥

Jurisdictional uncertainty within the CIA was matched by juris- . o
dictional conflict among the various intelligence agencies. A spirit of
cooperation and reciprocal exchanges of information which initially 1
characterized the programs disappeared. Military testers withheld in- el
formation from the CIA, ignoring suggestions for coordination from ‘

* their superiors. The CIA similarly failed to provide information to
the military on the CIA’s testing program. This failure to cooperate
was conspicucusly manifested in an attempt by the Army to conceal

- ¢
ol

* CIA Inspector General's Survey of TSD, 1957, p. 217. _
¥ On January 8, 1953. Mr. Harold Blauer died of circulatory collapse and heart
failure following an intravenous injection of a synthetic mescaline derivative
while a subject of tests'conducted by New York State Psychiatric Institute under
a contract let by the U.S. Army Chemical Corps. The Committee's investigation 4
into drug testing by U.S. intelligence agencies focused on the testing of LSD, how- ki 1
ever, the committee did receive a copy of the U.S. Army Inspector General’s
Report, issued on October 1975, on the events and circumstances of Mr. Blauer's .
LP [erthniFsydeathi kviss Bﬁgetﬁ()?ﬁﬁ&talble to the agministration of the syntheticl 0/14/2022 N
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their overseas testing program, which inciuded surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD, from the CIA. Learning of the Army’s_ program,
the Agency surreptitiously attempted to obtain details of it.
The~lecision to institute one of the Army’s LSD field testing proj ects
had been based, at least in part, on the finding that no long-term resid-
ual effects had ever resulted from the drug’s administration. The
CIA’s failure to inform the Army of a death which resulted from the
surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting Americans, may well
have resulted in the institution of an uinnecessary and potentially lethal

program. - - o
“The development, testing, and use of cheinical and biological agents
by intelligence agencies raises serious questions about the relationship
between the intellizence community and foreign governments, other -
agencies of the Federal Government, and other institutions and in-
dividuals. The questions raised range from the legitimacy of American
complicity in actions abroad which violate American and foreign laws
to the possible compromise of the integrity of public and private insti-
tutions used as cover by intelligence agencies.

A. Tue ProGrAMS INVESTIGATED

1. Project CHATTER

Project CHATTER was a Navy program that began in the fall of
1947. Responding to reports of “amazing results” achieved by the
Soviets in using “truth drugs,” the program focused on the iderntifica-
tion and testing of. such drugs for use in interrogatioris and in the
recruitment of agents. The research included laboratory experiments
on animals and hum:y subjects involving Anabasis aphylla, scopola-
mine, and riescaline in order to determine their.speech-inducing quali-
ties. Overseas experiments were conducted as part. of the project. ;

The project expanded substantially during the Korean War, and
ended shortly after the war, in 1953. . _

9. Project BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE

The earliest of the CIA’s major programs involving the use of
chemical and biological agents, Project B UEBIRD, was approved by
the Director in 1950. Its objectives were: :

(a) discovering means of conditioning personnel to prevent
_ unauthorized extraction of information from them by known
. means, (b) investigating the possibility of control of an in-
dividual by application of special interrp%ation technig-es,
(¢) memory enhancement, and (d) estab ishing defensive

means for preventing hostile control of Agency personnel.*

As a result of interrogations conducted overseas during the project,
another goal was added—the evaluation of offensive uses of unconven-
tional interro%ation techniques, including hypnosis and drugs. In .
*August 1951, the project was renamed ARTICHOKE. Project ARTI-
CHOKE included in-house experiments on interrogation techniques,

- conducted “under. medical and security controls which would ensure

e é/‘lfi/lé‘*m.eq:pfﬁnduﬁ‘ to the Selef:t Committee, “Behgvioral Drugs and Testing,”
. LP Evidentiary Exhibits Page 007359 -~~~ -7 10/14/2022
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that no damage was done to individuals who velunteer for the experi- -
ments.” * Overseas interrogations utilizing a combinstion of sodium
pentothal and hypnosis after physical and psychiatric examinations of
the subjects were also part of ARTICHO % '

The Office of Scientific Intelligence (OSI), which studied scientific
advances by hostile powers, initially led BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE
efforts. In 1952, overall responsibility for ARTICHOKE was trans-
ferred from OSI to the Inspection and Security Office (I&SO), pre-
decessor to the present Office of Security. The CIA’s Technical Serv-
ices and Medical Staffs were to be called upon as needed ; OSI would
retain liaison function with other government agencies.® The change
in leadership from an intelligence unit to an operating unit appar-
ently reflected a change in emphasis; from the study of actions by .
hostile powers to the use, both for cflensive and defensive purposes,
of special interrogation techniques—primarily hypnosis and truth
serums. :

Representatives from each Agency unit involved in ARTICHOKE

- met almost monthly to discuss their progress. These discussions in-
cluded the planning of overseas interrogations® as well as further
experimentation in the U.S.

Information about project ARTICHOKE after the fall of 1953
is scarce. The CIA maintains that the project ended in 1956, but evi-
dence suggests that Office of Security and Office of Medical Services
uﬁe of “special interrogation” techniques continued for several years
thereafter.

3. MKENAOMI

MENAOMI was another major CIA program in this area. In 1967,
the CIA summarized the purposes of MEKNAOMI:

(a) To provide for a covert support base to meet clandes-
tine operational requirements. ' '
(b) To stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal ma-
tqr;als] for the specific use of TSD [Technical Services Di-
vision]. :
(c) To maintain in operational readiness special and unique N
item? for the dissemination of biological and chemical ma-
terials. y ' e
(d) To provide for the required surveillance, testing, up-
grading, ‘and evaluation of materials and items in order to »
assure absence of defects and complete predictability of re-
- sults to be expected under operational conditions® = = -
Under &n agreement reached with the Army in 1952; the Special
Operations Division (SOD).at Fort Detrick was to assist CIA in
developing, testing, and maintaining biological .agents and delivery

4
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* Memorandum .from Robert ‘Tavlor, O/DD/P to the Assistant Deputy (In-
spection and Security) and Chief of the Medical Staff, 3/22/52.
¢ Memorandum from H. Marshall Chadwell, Assistant Director. Scientific Intel-
_ ligence, to the Deputy Director/Plans (DDP) “Prnfect ARTICHOKE,"” 8/28/52.
o ¢ “Progress Report, Project ARTICHOKE.” 1/12/53." :,
. * Memorandum from Chief, TSD/Biological Branch to Chief. TSD “MKNAOMI :
= LP E\Hdoding: Ohjdetbyies AQFBB0chmente.” 10/18/R7. p. 1. For a fuller deseripp)/14/2022
g tion of MEKNAOMI and the relationship between CIA and SOD. see p. 360 ff.
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gystems. By this agreement, CIA acCﬁuired the knowledge, skill, and
facilities of the Army to develop biological weapons suited for CIA

use.
SOD developed darts coated with biological agents and pills con-
taining several dit':rent biological agents which could remain potent
for weeks or months. SOD also developed a special gun for firing
- darts coated with a chemical which could allow CIA agents to incapaci-
. tate a guard dog, enter an installation secretly, and return the dog to
conscicusness when leaving. SOD scientists were unable to develop
a similar incapacitant for humans. SOD also physically transferred
to CIA personnel biological agents in “bulk” form, and delivery
devices, including some containing biological agents.
In addition to the CIA’s interest in biological weapons for use
' against humans, it also asked SOD to study use of biological agents
against crops and animals. In its 1967 memorandum, the CIA stated:

Three methods 2nd systems for carrying out a covert attack
against crops and causing severe crop loss have been devel-
oped and evaluated under field conditions. This was accom-
piished in anticipation of a requirement which was later
developed .but was subsequently scrubbed just prior to put-
ting into action.®®

« MEXNAOMTI was terminated in 1970. On November 25, 1969, Presi-

dent Nixon renounced the use of any form of biological weapons that
kill or incapacitate and orderee the disposal of existing stocks of bac-
teriological weapons. On February 14, 1970, the President clarified the
extent of his eaulier order and indicated that toxins—chemicals that
are not living organisms but are produced by living organisms—iere
considered biological weapons subject to his previous directive and
were to be destroyed. Although instructed to relinquish control of
material held for the CIA by SOD, a CIA scientist acquired approxi-
mately 11 grams of shellfish toxin from SOD personnel at Fort De-
trick which were stored in a little-used CIA lzboratory where it went
undetected for five years.*® :

4. MEULTRA

- MKULTRA was the principal CIA program involving the research
and development of chemical and biological agents. It was “con-
cerned with the research and development of chemical, biological, and
radiological materials.capable of employment in clandestine oper-
ations to control human behavior.” 1 ' '

In January 1973, MKULTRA records were destroyed by Technical
Serwg:e_g Division personnel acting on the verbal orders of Dr. Sidney
Gottlieb, Chief of TSD. Dr. Gottlieb has testified, and former Direc-
tor Helms has confirmed, that in ordering the records destroved, Dr.
Gottlieb was carrying out the verbal order of then DCI Helms.

MEULTRA began with a proposal from the Assistant- Deputy
Director for Plans, Richard Helms, to the DCI, outlining a special

% Ibid. p. 2. | : .
2 Senate Select Committee, 8/16/75, Hearings, Vc. 1.
** Memorandum from the CIA Inspector General to the Director, 7/26/63.

LP Evidentiary Exhibits Page 007361 « 10/14/2022.
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funding mechanism for highly sensitive CIA research and develop-
ment projects that studied the use of biological and chemical materials
in altering human behavior. The projects involved:

Research to develop a capability in the covert use of bio-
logical and chemical materials. This afea involves the produc-
tion of various physiological conditions which could support -
present or future clandestine operations. Aside from the of-
fensive potential, the development of a comprehensive capa-
bility in this field of covert chemical and biological warfare
gives us a thorough knowledge of the enemy’s theoretical
potential, thus enabling us to defend ourselves against a foe
who might not be as restrained in the use of these tech-
niques as we are.? :

MKULTRA -was approved by the DCI on April 13, 1953 along the
lines proposed by ADDP Helms.

Part of the rationale for the establishment of this special fund-
ing mechanism was its extreme sensitivity. The Inspector General’s
survey of MKULTRA in 1963 noted the following reasons for this
sensitivity: ] : ._ :

a. Rie=earch in the manipulation of human behavior is con- .
sidered by mam::, authorities in medicine and related fields
to be professionuily unethical, therefore the reputation of
professional participants in the MKULTRA.program are on
occasion in jenpardy. . )

b. Some MKKULTRA activities raise questions of iegelity .
implicit in the original charter. ~ _

.¢.. A final phase of the testing of MKULTRA products
places the rights and interests of U.S. citizens in jeopardy.
- d. Public disclosure of some aspects of MKULTRA activ-
ity could induce serious adverse reaction in U.S.. public
opinion, as well as stimulate offensive and defensive action
in this field on the part of foreign intelligence services,!s

Over the ten-year life of the program, many “additional avenues to
the control of human behavior” were designated as appropriate for

investigation under the MKULTRA charter. These include “radiation,

electroshock, various fields of psychology, psychiatry, sociology. and
anthropology, graphology, harassment:substances, and -paramilitary
devices and materials,” 1¢ BERRES iy

The rescarch and developriiént of materials to be used for altering .
* human be}umgr consisted of three nhases: first, the search for ma-
. terials suitable for study: second. laboratory: testing on voluntary

of MKU'LLTR A materials in normal life settings, 2t i
~ The search- for suitable materials was conducted through standing
arraneements with specialists in universities, pharmacentical houses,

human snhiects in various types of institutions; third, the application

hospitals, state and federal institutions, and private research organi-

2 Memorandum from ADDP Helms to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab A, pp. 1-2.
” }gd Rpex;ort on MKULTRA, 1833, pp. 1-2. - : ' -
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zations. The annual grants of funds to these specialists were made
under ostensible research foundation auspices, thereby concealing the
CIA’s interest from the specialist’s institution.

The next phase of the MKULTRA program involved physicians,
toxicologists, and other specialists in mental, narcotics, and general
hospitals, and in prisons. Utilizing the products and findings of the
basic research phase, they conducted intensive tests on human subjects.

One of the first studies was conducted by the National Institute of
Mental Health. This studv was intended to test various drugs. includ-
ing hallucinogenics, at the NIMH Addiction Research Center in Lex-
ington, Kentucky. The “Lexington Rehabilitation Center,” as it was
t}_len called, was a prison for drug addicts serving sentences for drug
violations.

The test subjects were volunteer prisoners who, after taking a brief
physical examination and signing a general consent form, were admin-
istered hallucinogenic drugs. As a reward for participation in the
program, the addicts were provided with the drug of their addiction.

LSD was one of the materials tested in the MKULTRA program.
The final phase of I.SD testing involved surreptitious administration
to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects in normal life settings by under-
cover officers of the Bureau of Narcotics acting for the CIA.

The rationale for such testing was “that testing of materials under
accepted scientific procedures fails to disclose the full pattern of reac-
tions and attributions that may occur in operational situations.” s

According to the CIA, the advantage of the relationship with the
Bureau was that

test subjects could be sought and cultivated within the setting
of narcotics control. Some subjects have been informers or
members of suspect criminal elements from whom the [Bu-
reau of .Narcotics] has obtained resnlts of anerational value
through the tests. On the other hand, the effectiveness of the
substances on individuals ot all social levels, high and low,
native American and joreign, is of great significance and
testing has been performed on a variety of individuals within
these categories. [Emphasis added.] ¢

A special procedure. designated MKDELTA. was es‘ablished to
govern the use of MICULTRA materials abroad. Sunch materials were
used on a number of occasions. Because MKULTRA records were
destroved. it is imnossible to reconstruct the operational use of
MKULTRA materials by the CIA overseas; it has been determined
that the use of these materials abroad began in 1953, and possibly as
early as 1950. ‘ ' S

Drues were used primarily as an aid to interrogations. but
MKULTRA/MKDELTA materials were also used for harassment,
discrediting, or disabling purposes. According to an Inspector General
Survey of the Technical Services Division of the CIA in 1957—an
inspection which did not discover the MIKULTRA nroject involving
the surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting, nonvolunteer

¥ Ivid, p. 21.
* Ivid., pp. 11-12. _
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